

JOURNAL OF THE HOUSE

First Regular Session, 103rd General Assembly

FIFTY-FIFTH DAY, WEDNESDAY, APRIL 16, 2025

The House met pursuant to adjournment.

Speaker Patterson in the Chair.

Prayer by Representative Brian Seitz.

Father, as we approach the day that we celebrate Your Son's resurrection from the dead, we pause in the House of Representatives to recognize Your goodness towards us in allowing us to advocate for the citizens of Missouri.

As we hear sometimes controversial legislation, by Your Spirit remind us that we are ALL human beings, with families, friends, neighbors, and yes, supporters who look to us for guidance.

We praise You that You have given us this short amount of time to see to the needs of others.

Guide our thoughts and actions, cause them to honor You in our speech and deeds. We ask these things in Jesus's name.

And the House said, "Amen."

The Pledge of Allegiance to the flag was recited.

The Speaker appointed the following to act as Honorary Pages for the Day, to serve without compensation: Charleston Kinne, Hunter Kinne and Stephen Goodlow.

The Journal of the fifty-fourth day was approved as printed by the following vote:

AYES: 128

Allen	Amato	Anderson	Baker	Barnes
Billington	Black	Boggs	Boykin	Boyko
Bromley	Brown 149	Burton	Bush	Busick
Butz	Casteel	Caton	Chappell	Christ
Clemens	Cook	Costlow	Crossley	Davidson
Davis	Diehl	Dolan	Douglas	Durnell
Ealy	Elliott	Falkner	Farnan	Fogle
Fountain Henderson	Fowler	Gallick	Gragg	Griffith
Haden	Hales	Haley	Harbison	Hausman
Hein	Hewkin	Hinman	Hovis	Hruza
Hurlbert	Irwin	Jacobs	Jobe	Jones 12
Jones 88	Jordan	Justus	Kalberloh	Keathley
Kelley	Kimble	Knight	Laubinger	Lewis
Loy	Lucas	Mansur	Martin	Matthiesen
Mayhew	McGaugh	McGirl	Meirath	Miller

1890 *Journal of the House*

Murphy	Murray	Myers	Nolte	Oehlerking
Overcast	Parker	Perkins	Peters	Phelps
Plank	Pollitt	Pouche	Price	Proudie
Reedy	Reuter	Riggs	Riley	Roberts
Rush	Schulte	Seitz	Self	Sharpe 4
Shields	Simmons	Smith 46	Smith 68	Steinhoff
Steinmeyer	Stinnett	Strickler	Taylor 48	Taylor 84
Terry	Titus	Van Schoiack	Veit	Vernetti
Violet	Voss	Warwick	Weber	Wellenkamp
West	Whaley	Wilson	Wolfen	Wright
Young	Zimmermann	Mr. Speaker		

NOES: 003

Dean	Mackey	Walsh Moore
------	--------	-------------

PRESENT: 000

ABSENT WITH LEAVE: 031

Appelbaum	Aune	Banderman	Bosley	Brown 16
Byrnes	Christensen	Coleman	Collins	Cupps
Deaton	Doll	Fuchs	Hardwick	Ingle
Jamison	Johnson	Mosley	Owen	Reed
Sassmann	Schmidt	Sharp 37	Smith 74	Sparks
Steinmetz	Thomas	Thompson	Waller	Williams
Woods				

VACANCIES: 001

Representative Haley assumed the Chair.

PERFECTION OF HOUSE BILLS

HB 431, HCS HB 806, HB 783, HB 671, HB 398 and HB 833 were placed on the Informal Calendar.

HB 709, relating to nondisclosure agreements in child sexual abuse cases, was taken up by Representative Seitz.

On motion of Representative Seitz, the title of **HB 709** was agreed to.

On motion of Representative Seitz, **HB 709** was ordered perfected and printed.

HCS HB 712, HCS HB 708, HCS HB 436, HB 475, HCS HB 477 and HCS HB 606 were placed on the Informal Calendar.

HB 608, relating to trust and estate administration, was taken up by Representative Thompson.

On motion of Representative Thompson, the title of **HB 608** was agreed to.

On motion of Representative Thompson, **HB 608** was ordered perfected and printed.

HB 657, HB 723 and HB 784 were placed on the Informal Calendar.

HCS HB 918, relating to civil actions, was taken up by Representative Black.

On motion of Representative Black, the title of **HCS HB 918** was agreed to.

On motion of Representative Black, **HCS HB 918** was adopted.

On motion of Representative Black, **HCS HB 918** was ordered perfected and printed.

HCS HB 1063, relating to the sunshine law, was placed on the Informal Calendar.

HCS HBs 433 & 630, relating to the sole purpose of regulating the treatment and use of gold and silver, was placed on the Informal Calendar.

HB 134, relating to the Missouri task force on nonprofit safety and security, was taken up by Representative Costlow.

On motion of Representative Costlow, the title of **HB 134** was agreed to.

On motion of Representative Costlow, **HB 134** was ordered perfected and printed.

HB 271, HB 362, HB 627, HCS HB 829 and HCS HB 976 were placed on the Informal Calendar.

HCS HB 1264, relating to applications for property developments, was taken up by Representative Casteel.

On motion of Representative Casteel, the title of **HCS HB 1264** was agreed to.

On motion of Representative Casteel, **HCS HB 1264** was adopted.

On motion of Representative Casteel, **HCS HB 1264** was ordered perfected and printed.

HCS HB 1216, HB 845 and HCS HB 1316 were placed on the Informal Calendar.

HB 952, relating to payments for tort liability to insurers, was taken up by Representative Overcast.

On motion of Representative Overcast, the title of **HB 952** was agreed to.

On motion of Representative Overcast, **HB 952** was ordered perfected and printed.

On motion of Representative Riley, the House recessed until 2:00 p.m.

AFTERNOON SESSION

The hour of recess having expired, the House was called to order by Speaker Pro Tem Perkins.

Representative Roberts suggested the absence of a quorum.

The following roll call indicated a quorum present:

AYES: 042

Anderson	Billington	Busick	Chappell	Christ
Cook	Davidson	Davis	Diehl	Dolan
Doll	Douglas	Fogle	Fuchs	Gallick
Gragg	Jacobs	Jamison	Jones 12	Jordan
Kalberloh	Loy	Lucas	Mayhew	McGill
Murray	Nolte	Overcast	Price	Proudie
Reuter	Roberts	Sassmann	Seitz	Shields
Smith 74	Steinmeyer	Stinnett	Titus	Verneti
Violet	West			

NOES: 000

PRESENT: 046

Allen	Barnes	Boggs	Boyko	Bromley
Brown 149	Butz	Caton	Costlow	Durnell
Elliott	Falkner	Fountain Henderson	Fowler	Griffith
Haden	Hales	Haley	Harbison	Hein
Hinman	Irwin	Jobe	Kimble	Matthiesen
Miller	Mosley	Myers	Parker	Perkins
Phelps	Schulte	Sharpe 4	Smith 46	Taylor 48
Thomas	Van Schoiack	Voss	Waller	Wellenkamp
Whaley	Wilson	Wolfen	Woods	Young
Zimmermann				

ABSENT WITH LEAVE: 074

Amato	Appelbaum	Aune	Baker	Banderman
Black	Bosley	Boykin	Brown 16	Burton
Bush	Byrnes	Casteel	Christensen	Clemens
Coleman	Collins	Crossley	Cupps	Dean
Deaton	Ealy	Farnan	Hardwick	Hausman
Hewkin	Hovis	Hruza	Hurlbert	Ingle
Johnson	Jones 88	Justus	Keathley	Kelley
Knight	Laubinger	Lewis	Mackey	Mansur
Martin	McGaugh	Meirath	Murphy	Oehlerking
Owen	Peters	Plank	Pollitt	Pouche
Reed	Reedy	Riggs	Riley	Rush
Schmidt	Self	Sharp 37	Simmons	Smith 68
Sparks	Steinhoff	Steinmetz	Strickler	Taylor 84
Terry	Thompson	Veit	Walsh Moore	Warwick
Weber	Williams	Wright	Mr. Speaker	

VACANCIES: 001

COMMITTEE REPORTS

Committee on Fiscal Review, Chairman Murphy reporting:

Mr. Speaker: Your Committee on Fiscal Review, to which was referred **SS HCS HBs 737 & 486, as amended**, begs leave to report it has examined the same and recommends that it **Do Pass** by the following vote:

Ayes (7): Casteel, Fogle, Gragg, Hein, Mayhew, Murphy and Pouche

Noes (0)

Absent (1): Cupps

HOUSE BILLS WITH SENATE AMENDMENTS

SS HCS HBs 737 & 486, as amended, relating to the protection of children, was taken up by Representative Schmidt.

Representative Schmidt moved that the House refuse to adopt **SS HCS HBs 737 & 486, as amended**, and request the Senate to recede from its position and, failing to do so, grant the House a conference.

Which motion was adopted.

Representative Haley resumed the Chair.

PERFECTION OF HOUSE BILLS

HB 245, relating to rural workforce housing, was placed on the Informal Calendar.

HCS HB 916, relating to protection of vulnerable persons, was placed on the Informal Calendar.

HB 200, relating to sewage disposal, was taken up by Representative Falkner.

Representative Falkner offered **House Amendment No. 1**.

House Amendment No. 1

AMEND House Bill No. 200, Page 1, In the Title, Line 3, by deleting the words "sewage disposal" and inserting in lieu thereof the words "environmental protection"; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Falkner, **House Amendment No. 1** was adopted.

Representative Wellenkamp offered **House Amendment No. 2**.

House Amendment No. 2

AMEND House Bill No. 200, Page 1, Section A, Line 2, by inserting after all of said section and line the following:

"67.1754. 1. The sales tax authorized in sections 67.1712 to 67.1721 shall be collected and allocated as follows:

(1) Fifty percent of the sales taxes collected from each county shall be deposited in the metropolitan park and recreational fund to be administered by the board of directors of the district to pay costs associated with the establishment, administration, operation and maintenance of public recreational facilities, parks, and public recreational grounds associated with the district. Costs for office administration beginning in the second fiscal year of district operations may be up to but shall not exceed fifteen percent of the amount deposited pursuant to this subdivision;

(2) Fifty percent of the sales taxes collected from each county shall be returned to the source county for park purposes, **which may include storm water management projects in such county that are confined to acquiring land for the sole purpose of building a park or greenway or for the deployment and augmentation of natural infrastructure or features that would otherwise add to or not take away from the benefits of the park to the community**, except that forty percent of such fifty percent amount shall be reserved for distribution to municipalities within the county in the form of grant revenue-sharing funds. Each county in the district shall establish its own process for awarding the grant proceeds to its municipalities for park purposes provided the purposes of such grants are consistent with the purpose of the district. In the case of a county of the first classification with a charter form of government having a population of at least nine hundred thousand inhabitants, such grant proceeds shall be awarded to municipalities by a municipal grant commission as described in section 67.1757; in such county, notwithstanding other provisions to the contrary, the grant proceeds may be used to fund any recreation program or park improvement serving municipal residents and for such other purposes as set forth in section 67.1757.

2. The sales tax authorized under subsection 2 of section 67.1712 shall be collected and allocated as follows:

(1) Sixty percent of the sales taxes collected from all counties shall be deposited in a separate metropolitan park and recreational fund to be administered by the board of directors of the metropolitan district to pay costs associated with the administration, operation, and maintenance of public recreational facilities, parks, and public recreational grounds associated with the metropolitan district. Of this amount:

(a) For a period ending twenty years after the issuance of any bonds issued for the purpose of improving and maintaining the Gateway Arch grounds, but no later than twenty-three years after the effective date of the incremental sales tax as approved by voter initiative under subsection 2 of section 67.1715:

a. Fifty percent shall be apportioned to accessibility, safety, improvement, and maintenance of the Gateway Arch grounds; and

b. Fifty percent shall be apportioned to accessibility, safety, improvement, and maintenance of park projects other than the Gateway Arch grounds;

(b) After the period described in paragraph (a) of this subdivision:

a. Twenty percent shall be apportioned to accessibility, safety, improvement, and maintenance of the Gateway Arch grounds; and

b. Eighty percent shall be apportioned to accessibility, safety, improvement, and maintenance of park projects other than the Gateway Arch grounds;

(c) Costs for office administration beginning in the second fiscal year of collection and allocation may be up to but shall not exceed fifteen percent of the amount deposited under this subdivision;

(2) Forty percent of the sales taxes collected from each county shall be returned to the source county for park purposes, except that forty percent of the amount allocated to each source county shall be reserved for distribution to municipalities within the county in the form of grant-sharing funds. Each county in the metropolitan district shall establish its own process for awarding the grant proceeds to its municipalities for park purposes, provided the purposes of such grants are consistent with the purpose of the metropolitan district. In the case of any county with a charter form of government and with more than nine hundred fifty thousand inhabitants, such grant proceeds shall be awarded to municipalities by a municipal grant commission as described in section 67.1757, and in such county, notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, such grant proceeds may be used to fund any recreation program or park improvement serving municipal residents and for such other purposes as set forth in section 67.1757.

3. At a general election occurring not less than six months before the expiration of twenty years after issuance of any bonds issued for the purpose of improving and maintaining the Gateway Arch grounds, but no later than twenty-three years after the effective date of the incremental sales tax as approved by voter initiative under subsection 2 of section 67.1715, the governing body of any county within the metropolitan district whose voters approved such incremental tax shall submit to its voters a proposal to reauthorize such tax after the expiration of such period. The form of the question shall be determined by the metropolitan district. Such reauthorization shall become effective only after a majority of the voters of each such county who vote on such reauthorization approve the reauthorization."; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Wellenkamp, **House Amendment No. 2** was adopted.

Representative Hales offered **House Amendment No. 3**.

House Amendment No. 3

AMEND House Bill No. 200, Page 1, Section A, Line 2, by inserting after all of said section and line the following:

"249.422. 1. If approved by a majority of the voters voting on the proposal, any city, town, village or county on behalf of the unincorporated area, located either within the boundaries of a sewer district established pursuant to Article VI, Section 30(a) of the Missouri Constitution or within any county of the first classification having a charter form of government with a population of more than two hundred ten thousand inhabitants but less than three hundred thousand inhabitants, may by city, town, village or county ordinance levy and impose annually for the repair of lateral sewer service lines on or connecting residential property having six or less dwelling units a fee not to exceed ~~[fifty]~~ **one hundred** dollars per year. Any city, town, village, or county that establishes or increases the fee used to repair any portion of the lateral sewer service line shall include all defective portions of the lateral sewer service line from the residential structure to its connection with the public sewer system line. Notwithstanding any provision of chapter 448, the fee imposed pursuant to this chapter shall be imposed upon condominiums that have six or less condominium units per building and each condominium unit shall be responsible for its proportionate share of any fee charged pursuant to this chapter, and in addition, any condominium unit shall, if determined to be responsible for and served by its own individual lateral sewer line, be treated as an individual residence regardless of the number of units in the development. It shall be the responsibility of the condominium owner or condominium association who are of the opinion that they are not properly classified as provided in this section to notify the county office administering the program. Where an existing sewer lateral program was in effect prior to August 28, 2003, condominium and apartment units not previously enrolled may be ineligible for enrollment if it is determined that the sewer lateral serving the unit is defective.

2. The question shall be submitted in substantially the following form:

Shall a maximum charge not to exceed ~~[fifty]~~ **one hundred** dollars be assessed annually on residential property for each lateral sewer service line serving six or less dwelling units on that property and condominiums that have six or less condominium units per building and any condominium responsible for its own individual lateral sewer line to provide funds to pay the cost of certain repairs of those lateral sewer service lines which may be billed quarterly or annually?

☐ YES

☐ NO

3. If a majority of the voters voting thereon approve the proposal provided for in subsection 2 of this section, the governing body of the city, town, village or county may enact an ordinance for the collection and administration of such fee in order to protect the public health, welfare, peace and safety. The funds collected pursuant to such ordinance shall be deposited in a special account to be used solely for the purpose of paying for all or a portion of the costs reasonably associated with and necessary to administer and carry out the defective lateral sewer service line repairs. All interest generated on deposited funds shall be accrued to the special account established for the repair of lateral sewer service lines."; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Hales, **House Amendment No. 3** was adopted.

Representative Matthiesen offered **House Amendment No. 4**.

House Amendment No. 4

AMEND House Bill No. 200, Page 1, Section A, Line 2, by inserting after all of said section and line the following:

"260.558. 1. There is hereby created in the state treasury the "Radioactive Waste Investigation Fund". The state treasurer shall be custodian of the fund. In accordance with sections 30.170 and 30.180, the state treasurer may approve disbursements. The fund shall be a dedicated fund and, upon appropriation, moneys in the fund shall be used solely by the department of natural resources to investigate concerns of exposure to radioactive waste. ~~[Upon written request by a local governing body expressing concerns of radioactive waste contamination in a specified area within its jurisdiction,]~~ **The fund shall not be used for any costs associated with clean up efforts. The fund may also accept, without limitation, funds from gifts, bequests, and devises.**

2. The department of natural resources shall use moneys in the radioactive waste investigation fund to develop and conduct an investigation, using sound scientific methods, for the specified area of concern. ~~[The request by a local governing body]~~ **Requests for investigation may be submitted in writing to the department by local governing bodies, local community groups, or individuals located within the jurisdiction of a specified area of concern.** Requests shall include a specified area of concern and any supporting documentation related to the concern. The department shall prioritize requests in the order in which they are received, except that the department may give priority to requests that are in close proximity to federally designated sites where radioactive contaminants are known or reasonably expected to exist.

3. The investigation shall be performed by applicable federal or state agencies or by a qualified contractor selected by the department through a competitive bidding process. In conducting an investigation under this section, the department shall work with the applicable government agency or approved contractor, as well as local officials, to develop a sampling and analysis plan to determine if radioactive contaminants in the area of concern exceed federal standards **set by the United States Environmental Protection Agency** for remedial action due to contamination. **The investigation may include the collection of soil, dust, and water samples from the specified area.** Within a residential area, this plan may include ~~[dust]~~ samples collected ~~[inside residential homes]~~ **on private property** only after obtaining permission from the homeowners. The samples shall be analyzed for the isotopes necessary to correlate the samples with the suspected contamination, as described in the sampling and analysis plan.

4. **If the department has evidence or reasonably suspects that radioactive contaminants are located on property owned by a governmental agency, regardless of whether the property is accessible to the public that will not grant access to collect samples, the department may seek a warrant to access the property to collect any samples authorized under this section.**

5. Within forty-five days of receiving the final sampling results, the department shall report the results to the attorney general ~~[and the local governing body that requested the investigation]~~ and make the finalized report and testing results publicly available on the department's website.

~~[2-]~~ 6. The transfer to the fund **from the hazardous waste fund** shall not exceed one hundred fifty thousand dollars per fiscal year. ~~[Investigation costs expended from this fund shall not exceed one hundred fifty thousand dollars per fiscal year.]~~ Any moneys **transferred from the hazardous waste fund** remaining in the fund at the end of the biennium shall revert to the credit of the hazardous waste fund. **Moneys received from general revenue, gifts, bequests, devises, or any other source shall remain in the radioactive waste investigation fund.**

~~[3-]~~ 7. The state treasurer shall invest moneys in the fund in the same manner as other funds are invested. Any interest and moneys earned on such investments shall be credited to the fund.

8. **The department shall seek reimbursement of expenses incurred during radioactive waste testing from any federal agency responsible for the site."**; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

Representative Reed raised a point of order that a member was in violation of Rule 98.

Representative Haley requested a parliamentary ruling.

Speaker Pro Tem Perkins resumed the Chair.

Representative Reed withdrew his point of order.

Representative Haley resumed the Chair.

On motion of Representative Matthiesen, **House Amendment No. 4** was adopted.

Representative Taylor (48) offered **House Amendment No. 5**.

House Amendment No. 5

AMEND House Bill No. 200, Page 1, Section A, Line 2, by inserting after said section and line the following:

"292.606. 1. Fees shall be collected for a period of six years from August 28, ~~[2018]~~ 2025.

2. (1) Any employer required to report under subsection 1 of section 292.605, except local governments and family-owned farm operations, shall submit an annual fee to the commission of one hundred dollars along with the Tier II form. Owners or operators of petroleum retail facilities shall pay a fee of no more than fifty dollars for each such facility. Any person, firm or corporation selling, delivering or transporting petroleum or petroleum products and whose primary business deals with petroleum products or who is covered by the provisions of chapter 323, if such person, firm or corporation is paying fees under the provisions of the federal hazardous materials transportation registration and fee assessment program, shall deduct such federal fees from those fees owed to the state under the provisions of this subsection. If the federal fees exceed or are equal to what would otherwise be owed under this subsection, such employer shall not be liable for state fees under this subsection. In relation to petroleum products "primary business" shall mean that the person, firm or corporation shall earn more than fifty percent of hazardous chemical revenues from the sale, delivery or transport of petroleum products. For the purpose of calculating fees, all grades of gasoline are considered to be one product, all grades of heating oils, diesel fuels, kerosenes, naphthas, aviation turbine fuel, and all other heavy distillate products except for grades of gasoline are considered to be one product, and all varieties of motor lubricating oil are considered to be one product. For the purposes of this section "facility" shall mean all buildings, equipment, structures and other stationary items that are located on a single site or on contiguous or adjacent sites and which are owned or operated by the same person. If more than three hazardous substances or mixtures are reported on the Tier II form, the employer shall submit an additional twenty-dollar fee for each hazardous substance or mixture. Fees collected under this subdivision shall be for each hazardous chemical on hand at any one time in excess of ten thousand pounds or for extremely hazardous substances on hand at any one time in excess of five hundred pounds or the threshold planning quantity, whichever is less, or for explosives or blasting agents on hand at any one time in excess of one hundred pounds. However, no employer shall pay more than ten thousand dollars per year in fees. Moneys acquired through litigation and any administrative fees paid pursuant to subsection 3 of this section shall not be applied toward this cap.

(2) Employers engaged in transporting hazardous materials by pipeline except local gas distribution companies regulated by the Missouri public service commission shall pay to the commission a fee of two hundred fifty dollars for each county in which they operate.

(3) Payment of fees is due each year by March first. A late fee of ten percent of the total owed, plus one percent per month of the total, may be assessed by the commission.

(4) If, on March first of each year, fees collected under this section and natural resources damages made available pursuant to section 640.235 exceed one million dollars, any excess over one million dollars shall be proportionately credited to fees payable in the succeeding year by each employer who was required to pay a fee and who did pay a fee in the year in which the excess occurred. The limit of one million dollars contained herein shall be reviewed by the commission concurrent with the review of fees as required in subsection 1 of this section.

3. Beginning January 1, 2013, any employer filing its Tier II form pursuant to subsection 1 of section 292.605 may request that the commission distribute that employer's Tier II report to the local emergency planning committees and fire departments listed in its Tier II report. Any employer opting to have the commission distribute its Tier II report shall pay an additional fee of ten dollars for each facility listed in the report at the time of filing to

recoup the commission's distribution costs. Fees shall be deposited in the chemical emergency preparedness fund established under section 292.607. An employer who pays the additional fee and whose Tier II report includes all local emergency planning committees and fire departments required to be notified under subsection 1 of section 292.605 shall satisfy the reporting requirements of subsection 1 of section 292.605. The commission shall develop a mechanism for an employer to exercise its option to have the commission distribute its Tier II report.

4. Local emergency planning committees receiving funds under section 292.604 shall coordinate with the commission and the department in chemical emergency planning, training, preparedness, and response activities. Local emergency planning committees receiving funds under this section, section 260.394, sections 292.602, 292.604, 292.605, 292.615 and section 640.235 shall provide to the commission an annual report of expenditures and activities.

5. Fees collected by the department and all funds provided to local emergency planning committees shall be used for chemical emergency preparedness purposes as outlined in sections 292.600 to 292.625 and the federal act, including contingency planning for chemical releases; exercising, evaluating, and distributing plans, providing training related to chemical emergency preparedness and prevention of chemical accidents; identifying facilities required to report; processing the information submitted by facilities and making it available to the public; receiving and handling emergency notifications of chemical releases; operating a local emergency planning committee; and providing public notice of chemical preparedness activities. Local emergency planning committees receiving funds under this section may combine such funds with other local emergency planning committees to further the purposes of sections 292.600 to 292.625, or the federal act.

6. The commission shall establish criteria and guidance on how funds received by local emergency planning committees may be used.

7. **A one-time fee shall be assessed in accordance with subsection 2 of this section and shall be calculated based on the filing due on March 1, 2025, and shall be paid by November 1, 2025."**; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Taylor (48), **House Amendment No. 5** was adopted.

Representative Van Schoiack offered **House Amendment No. 6**.

House Amendment No. 6

AMEND House Bill No. 200, Page 1, Section A, Line 2, by inserting after said section and line the following:

"393.2600. 1. As used in this section, the following terms mean:

(1) **"Light-mitigating technology system", aircraft detection lighting or any other comparable system capable of reducing the impact of facility obstruction lighting while maintaining conspicuity sufficient to assist aircraft in identifying and avoiding collision with a wind energy conversion system;**

(2) **"Power offtake agreement", a long-term contract that provides for:**

(a) **The whole or any part of the available capacity or the sale or other disposal of the whole or any part of the output of a wind energy conversion system; or**

(b) **A contract for differences or financial hedge ties to the output from the wind energy conversion system;**

(3) **"Wind energy conversion system", an electric generation facility consisting of five or more wind turbines that are fifty feet tall or taller in height and any accessory structures and buildings, including substations, meteorological towers, electrical infrastructure, transmission lines, and other appurtenant structures.**

2. After August 28, 2025, no new wind energy conversion system shall begin commercial operations in this state unless the developer, owner, or operator of the wind energy conversion systems applies to the Federal Aviation Administration for installation of a light-mitigating technology system that complies with 14 CFR 1.1, et seq. If the installation is approved by the Federal Aviation Administration, the developer, owner, or operator of such wind energy conversion system shall install the light-mitigating technology system on approved turbines within twenty-four months of receipt of approval.

3. Prior to August 28, 2033, any developer, owner, or operator of a wind energy conversion system that has commenced commercial operations in the state without a light-mitigating technology system shall

apply to the Federal Aviation Administration for installation and operation of a light-mitigating technology system that complies with 14 CFR 1.1, et seq. If the installation is approved by the Federal Aviation Administration, the developer, owner, or operator of such wind energy conversion system shall install the light-mitigating technology system on approved turbines within twenty-four months of receipt of approval.

4. Any vendor that is selected for installation of light-mitigating technology system on a wind energy conversion system under the provisions of this section and is approved by the Federal Aviation Administration for such installation shall provide to the Missouri department of natural resources, in the form and manner prescribed by the department, notice of the progress of the installation of such light-mitigating technology system.

5. If the installation of the light-mitigating technology system is delayed beyond the twenty-four-month installation requirement established under this section, the vendor shall provide notice to the Missouri department of natural resources no less than once every three months with an update on the reasons for the delay and the current status of installation. The department shall establish policies and procedures to establish a uniform schedule for submitting notice as required under this subsection.

6. Any costs associated with the installation, implementation, operation, and maintenance of a light-mitigating technology system shall be the responsibility of the developer, owner, or operator of the wind energy conversion system.

7. Any developer, owner, or operator of a wind energy conversion system that is approved to install light-mitigating technology but does not install such approved light-mitigating technology in the time frames established in subsections 3 and 5 of this section shall be liable for a fine of five thousand dollars per day per wind turbine until the developer, owner, or operator installs the light-mitigating technology as approved.

8. The director may promulgate all necessary rules and regulations for the administration of this section. Any rule or portion of a rule, as that term is defined in section 536.010, that is created under the authority delegated in this section shall become effective only if it complies with and is subject to all of the provisions of chapter 536 and, if applicable, section 536.028. This section and chapter 536 are nonseverable and if any of the powers vested with the general assembly pursuant to chapter 536 to review, to delay the effective date, or to disapprove and annul a rule are subsequently held unconstitutional, then the grant of rulemaking authority and any rule proposed or adopted after August 28, 2025, shall be invalid and void."; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Van Schoiack, **House Amendment No. 6** was adopted.

On motion of Representative Falkner, **HB 200, as amended**, was ordered perfected and printed.

PERFECTION OF HOUSE BILLS - INFORMAL

HB 1041, relating to a modification of certain fees imposed on barrels of malt liquor, was taken up by Representative Diehl.

Representative Diehl moved that the title of **HB 1041** be agreed to.

Representative Gallick offered **House Amendment No. 1**.

House Amendment No. 1

AMEND House Bill No. 1041, Page 1, In the Title, Lines 2-3, by deleting the words "a modification of certain fees imposed on barrels of malt liquor" and inserting in lieu thereof the words "alcoholic beverages"; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Gallick, **House Amendment No. 1** was adopted.

Representative Myers offered **House Amendment No. 2**.

House Amendment No. 2

AMEND House Bill No. 1041, Page 1, Section A, Line 2, by inserting after all of said section and line the following:

"311.332. 1. It shall be unlawful for any wholesaler licensed to sell intoxicating liquor and wine containing alcohol in excess of five percent by weight to persons duly licensed to sell such intoxicating liquor and wine at retail, to discriminate between retailers or in favor of or against any retailer or group of retailers, directly or indirectly, in price, in discounts for time of payment, or in discounts on quantity of merchandise sold, or to grant directly or indirectly any discount, rebate, free goods, allowance or other inducement, excepting a discount not in excess of one percent for quantity of liquor and wine, and a discount not in excess of one percent for payment on or before a certain date. The delivery of manufacturer rebate coupons by wholesalers to retailers shall not be a violation of this subsection.

2. Manufacturers or wholesalers shall be permitted to donate or deliver or cause to be delivered beer, wine, or brandy for nonresale purposes to any unlicensed person or any licensed retail dealer who is a charitable or religious organization as defined in section 313.005 or educational institution, at any location or licensed premises, provided, such beer, wine, or brandy is unrelated to the organization's or institution's licensed retail operation. A charge for admission to an event or activity at which beer, wine, or brandy is available without separate charge shall not constitute resale for the purposes of this subsection. Wine used in religious ceremonies may be sold by wholesalers to a religious organization as defined in section 313.005. Any manufacturer or wholesaler providing nonresale items shall keep a record of any deliveries made pursuant to this subsection.

3. Manufacturers, wholesalers, retailers and unlicensed persons may donate wine, **beer, malt liquor, or spirits**, in the original package to a charitable or religious organization as defined in section 313.005 or educational institution for the sole purpose of being auctioned **or raffled** by the organization or institution for fund-raising purposes, provided the auction **or raffle** takes place on a retail-licensed premises and all proceeds from the sale go into a fund of an organization or institution that is unrelated to any licensed retail operation."; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Myers, **House Amendment No. 2** was adopted.

Representative West offered **House Amendment No. 3**.

House Amendment No. 3

AMEND House Bill No. 1041, Page 1, Section A, Line 2, by inserting after all of said section and line the following:

"311.355. 1. Manufacturers of intoxicating liquor other than beer [~~or wine~~] shall be permitted to offer consumer cash rebate coupons as provided in this subsection:

(1) Consumer cash rebate coupons may be published or advertised by manufacturers in newspapers, magazines and other mass media;

(2) Coupon advertisements may list the amount of the cash rebate, but not the retail price of the intoxicating liquor after the rebate;

(3) Applications for cash rebates must be made directly from the consumer to the manufacturer, and not through retailers or wholesalers;

(4) Cash rebates must be made directly to consumers by manufacturers;

(5) Wholesalers and manufacturers may deliver cash rebate coupons to retailers, either for distribution at the point of sale or in connection with packaging.

2. Manufacturers of intoxicating liquor including beer and wine may offer coupons redeemable for nonalcoholic merchandise, except that such redeemable coupons must be made available without a purchase requirement to consumers at the point of sale, or by request through the mail, or at the retailer's cash register. Redeemable coupons may be published or advertised by manufacturers in newspapers, magazines and other mass media. Advertisements must state that no purchase is required to obtain the nonalcoholic merchandise and provide information on the procedure to obtain such merchandise. The retail value of the nonalcoholic merchandise shall not be stated in the advertisement or on the product. Wholesalers and manufacturers may deliver these redeemable coupons at the point of sale or in connection with packaging."; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative West, **House Amendment No. 3** was adopted.

Representative Gallick offered **House Amendment No. 4**.

House Amendment No. 4

AMEND House Bill No. 1041, Page 2, Section 311.520, Line 29, by inserting after all of said section and line the following:

"311.2026. 1. For the purposes of this section, the term "FIFA World Cup Tournament" means the international soccer tournament that takes place every four years and is organized by the Federation Internationale de Football Association.

2. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter to the contrary, any person or establishment possessing the qualifications and meeting the requirements of this chapter that is licensed to sell intoxicating liquor by the drink at retail for consumption on the premises in any city, county, district, or other political subdivision in this state may, for the duration of the 2026 FIFA World Cup Tournament, beginning on June 11, 2026, through July 19, 2026, operate twenty-four hours a day and sell, serve, and allow for the consumption of alcoholic beverages between the hours of 6:00 a.m. and 5:00 a.m. of the following day. This temporary extension of service hours shall apply to all licensed areas at a licensed establishment. The provisions of this chapter relating to hours of operation, time of closing or opening, or hours of sale of intoxicating liquor by the drink at retail for consumption on the premises shall not apply to such licensees for the duration of this temporary extension, except as provided under this section.

3. Licensees are not required to apply to the commission for approval and no special temporary license or permit shall be required of any licensee for the purposes of this temporary extension, subject to any local restrictions on hours of operation as provided under subsection 4 of this section or additional conditions for compliance under any applicable local laws, ordinances, rules, or regulations.

4. If any city, county, district, or other political subdivision in this state objects to the extension of hours for licensees within its jurisdiction, the governing body of such political subdivision may exempt itself by ordinance from the provisions of this section or may modify by ordinance the hours applicable to such political subdivision for the temporary period allowed by this section to be not less than the ordinary permissible hours of service applicable to such political subdivision but not to exceed the hours allowed under this section.

5. This section shall expire on July 20, 2026."; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Gallick, **House Amendment No. 4** was adopted.

Representative Roberts moved the previous question.

Which motion was adopted by the following vote:

1902 *Journal of the House*

AYES: 085

Allen	Baker	Banderman	Billington	Black
Boggs	Bromley	Brown 149	Brown 16	Byrnes
Casteel	Caton	Chappell	Christ	Christensen
Coleman	Cook	Costlow	Davidson	Davis
Diehl	Dolan	Durnell	Elliott	Farnan
Fowler	Gallick	Gragg	Griffith	Haden
Haley	Harbison	Hardwick	Hewkin	Hinman
Hovis	Hruza	Hurlbert	Irwin	Jones 12
Jordan	Justus	Kalberloh	Keathley	Kelley
Laubinger	Loy	Lucas	Martin	Matthiesen
Mayhew	McGill	Meirath	Miller	Myers
Nolte	Oehlerking	Overcast	Owen	Parker
Phelps	Pollitt	Reuter	Riggs	Roberts
Sassmann	Schmidt	Schulte	Seitz	Self
Shields	Steinmeyer	Stinnett	Taylor 48	Thompson
Titus	Van Schoiack	Verneti	Violet	Voss
Waller	Wellenkamp	Whaley	Wilson	Wolfin

NOES: 045

Anderson	Appelbaum	Aune	Barnes	Bosley
Boykin	Boyko	Burton	Bush	Butz
Clemens	Collins	Dean	Doll	Douglas
Ealy	Fogle	Fountain Henderson	Fuchs	Hales
Hein	Ingle	Jacobs	Jamison	Jobe
Kimble	Mackey	Mansur	Mosley	Price
Proudie	Rush	Sharp 37	Smith 46	Smith 74
Steinhoff	Strickler	Taylor 84	Terry	Thomas
Walsh Moore	Weber	Woods	Young	Zimmermann

PRESENT: 003

Johnson	Reed	Smith 68
---------	------	----------

ABSENT WITH LEAVE: 029

Amato	Busick	Crossley	Cupps	Deaton
Falkner	Hausman	Jones 88	Knight	Lewis
McGaugh	Murphy	Murray	Perkins	Peters
Plank	Pouche	Reedy	Riley	Sharpe 4
Simmons	Sparks	Steinmetz	Veit	Warwick
West	Williams	Wright	Mr. Speaker	

VACANCIES: 001

On motion of Representative Diehl, **HB 1041, as amended**, was ordered perfected and printed.

HB 757, relating to commercial activity, was taken up by Representative Mayhew.

On motion of Representative Mayhew, the title of **HB 757** was agreed to.

Representative Sassmann offered **House Amendment No. 1**.

House Amendment No. 1

AMEND House Bill No. 757, Page 7, Section 415.415, Lines 52-56, by deleting all of said lines and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

"in a newspaper of general circulation in the jurisdiction where the sale is to be held. Such advertisement shall be in the classified section of the newspaper and shall state that the items will be released for sale."; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

Representative Sassmann moved that **House Amendment No. 1** be adopted.

Which motion was defeated.

On motion of Representative Mayhew, **HB 757** was ordered perfected and printed.

Speaker Pro Tem Perkins resumed the Chair.

HCS HB 736, relating to orders of protection, was taken up by Representative Dolan.

On motion of Representative Dolan, the title of **HCS HB 736** was agreed to.

On motion of Representative Dolan, **HCS HB 736** was adopted.

On motion of Representative Dolan, **HCS HB 736** was ordered perfected and printed.

HB 1284, relating to transportation, was taken up by Representative Hewkin.

On motion of Representative Hewkin, the title of **HB 1284** was agreed to.

On motion of Representative Hewkin, **HB 1284** was ordered perfected and printed.

HCS HB 326, relating to tax credits, was taken up by Representative Shields.

On motion of Representative Shields, the title of **HCS HB 326** was agreed to.

Representative Laubinger offered **House Amendment No. 1**.

House Amendment No. 1

AMEND House Committee Substitute for House Bill No. 326, Page 3, Section 135.341, Line 83, by inserting after all of said section and line the following:

"135.621. 1. As used in this section, the following terms mean:

- (1) "Contribution", a donation of cash, stock, bonds, other marketable securities, or real property;
- (2) "Department", the department of social services;
- (3) "Diaper bank", **a national diaper bank** or a nonprofit entity located in this state established and operating primarily for the purpose of collecting or purchasing disposable diapers or other hygiene products for infants, children, or incontinent adults and that regularly distributes such diapers or other hygiene products through

two or more schools, health care facilities, governmental agencies, or other nonprofit entities for eventual distribution to individuals free of charge;

(4) **"National diaper bank", a nonprofit entity located in this state that meets the following criteria:**

(a) **Collects, purchases, warehouses, and manages a community inventory of disposable diapers or other hygiene products for infants, children, or incontinent adults;**

(b) **Regularly distributes a consistent and reliable supply of such diapers or other hygiene products through two or more schools, health care facilities, governmental agencies, or other nonprofit entities for eventual distribution to individuals free of charge, with the intention of reducing diaper need; and**

(c) **Is a member of a national network organization serving all fifty states through which certification demonstrates nonprofit best practices, data-driven program design, and equitable distribution focused on best serving infants, children, and incontinent adults;**

(5) "Tax credit", a credit against the tax otherwise due under chapter 143, excluding withholding tax imposed under sections 143.191 to 143.265, or otherwise due under chapter 148 or 153;

~~[(5)]~~ (6) "Taxpayer", a person, firm, partner in a firm, corporation, or shareholder in an S corporation doing business in the state of Missouri and subject to the state income tax imposed under chapter 143; an insurance company paying an annual tax on its gross premium receipts in this state; any other financial institution paying taxes to the state of Missouri or any political subdivision of this state under chapter 148; an express company that pays an annual tax on its gross receipts in this state under chapter 153; an individual subject to the state income tax under chapter 143; or any charitable organization that is exempt from federal income tax and whose Missouri unrelated business taxable income, if any, would be subject to the state income tax imposed under chapter 143.

2. For all fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 2019, a taxpayer shall be allowed to claim a tax credit against the taxpayer's state tax liability in an amount equal to fifty percent of the amount of such taxpayer's contributions to a diaper bank.

3. The amount of the tax credit claimed shall not exceed the amount of the taxpayer's state tax liability for the tax year for which the credit is claimed, and such taxpayer shall not be allowed to claim a tax credit in excess of fifty thousand dollars per tax year. However, any tax credit that cannot be claimed in the tax year the contribution was made may be carried over only to the next subsequent tax year. No tax credit issued under this section shall be assigned, transferred, or sold.

4. Except for any excess credit that is carried over under subsection 3 of this section, no taxpayer shall be allowed to claim a tax credit unless the taxpayer contributes at least one hundred dollars to one or more diaper banks during the tax year for which the credit is claimed.

5. The department shall determine, at least annually, which entities in this state qualify as diaper banks. The department may require of an entity seeking to be classified as a diaper bank any information which is reasonably necessary to make such a determination. The department shall classify an entity as a diaper bank if such entity satisfies the definition under subsection 1 of this section.

6. The department shall establish a procedure by which a taxpayer can determine if an entity has been classified as a diaper bank.

7. Diaper banks may decline a contribution from a taxpayer.

8. The cumulative amount of tax credits that may be claimed by all the taxpayers contributing to diaper banks in any one fiscal year shall not exceed five hundred thousand dollars. Tax credits shall be issued in the order contributions are received. If the amount of tax credits redeemed in a tax year is less than five hundred thousand dollars, the difference shall be added to the cumulative limit created under this subsection for the next fiscal year and carried over to subsequent fiscal years until claimed.

9. The department shall establish a procedure by which, from the beginning of the fiscal year until some point in time later in the fiscal year to be determined by the department, the cumulative amount of tax credits are equally apportioned among all entities classified as diaper banks. If a diaper bank fails to use all, or some percentage to be determined by the department, of its apportioned tax credits during this predetermined period of time, the department may reapportion such unused tax credits to diaper banks that have used all, or some percentage to be determined by the department, of their apportioned tax credits during this predetermined period of time. The department may establish multiple periods each fiscal year and reapportion accordingly. To the maximum extent possible, the department shall establish the procedure described under this subsection in such a manner as to ensure that taxpayers can claim as many of the tax credits as possible, up to the cumulative limit created under subsection 8 of this section.

10. Each diaper bank shall provide information to the department concerning the identity of each taxpayer making a contribution and the amount of the contribution. The department shall provide the information to the department of revenue. The department shall be subject to the confidentiality and penalty provisions of section 32.057 relating to the disclosure of tax information.

11. Under section 23.253 of the Missouri sunset act:

(1) The provisions of the program authorized under this section shall automatically sunset on December thirty-first six years after August 28, ~~[2018]~~ **2025**, unless reauthorized by an act of the general assembly;

(2) If such program is reauthorized, the program authorized under this section shall automatically sunset on December thirty-first six years after the effective date of the reauthorization of this section;

(3) This section shall terminate on September first of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the program authorized under this section is sunset; and

(4) The provisions of this subsection shall not be construed to limit or in any way impair the department's ability to issue tax credits authorized on or before the date the program authorized under this section expires or a taxpayer's ability to redeem such tax credits."; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Laubinger, **House Amendment No. 1** was adopted.

Representative Christ offered **House Amendment No. 2**.

House Amendment No. 2

AMEND House Committee Substitute for House Bill No. 326, Page 1, Section A, Line 2, by inserting after all of said section and line the following:

"67.3000. 1. As used in this section and section 67.3005, the following words shall mean:

(1) "Active member", an organization located in the state of Missouri which solicits and services sports events, sports organizations, and other types of sports-related activities in that community;

(2) "Applicant" or "applicants", one or more certified sponsors, endorsing counties, endorsing municipalities, or a local organizing committee, acting individually or collectively;

(3) "Certified sponsor" or "certified sponsors", a nonprofit organization which is an active member of the ~~[National Association of Sports Commissions]~~ **Sports Events and Tourism Association**;

(4) "Department", the Missouri department of economic development;

(5) "Director", the director of revenue;

(6) ~~["Eligible costs" shall include:~~

~~(a) Costs necessary for conducting the sporting event;~~

~~(b) Costs relating to the preparations necessary for the conduct of the sporting event; and~~

~~(c) An applicant's pledged obligations to the site selection organization as evidenced by the support contract for the sporting event including, but not limited to, bid fees and financial guarantees.~~

~~Eligible costs shall not include any cost associated with the rehabilitation or construction of any facilities used to host the sporting event or direct payments to a for-profit site selection organization, but may include costs associated with the retrofitting of a facility necessary to accommodate the sporting event;~~

~~(7)]~~ "Eligible donation", donations received, by a certified sponsor or local organizing committee, from a taxpayer that may include cash, publicly traded stocks and bonds, and real estate that will be valued and documented according to rules promulgated by the department. Such donations shall be used solely to provide funding to attract sporting events to this state;

~~[(8)]~~ (7) "Endorsing municipality" or "endorsing municipalities", any city, town, incorporated village, or county that contains a site selected by a site selection organization for one or more sporting events;

~~[(9)]~~ (8) "Joinder agreement", an agreement entered into by one or more applicants, acting individually or collectively, and a site selection organization setting out representations and assurances by each applicant in connection with the selection of a site in this state for the location of a sporting event;

~~[(10)]~~ (9) "Joinder undertaking", an agreement entered into by one or more applicants, acting individually or collectively, and a site selection organization that each applicant will execute a joinder agreement in the event that the site selection organization selects a site in this state for a sporting event;

~~[(11)]~~ (10) "Local organizing committee", a nonprofit corporation or its successor in interest that:

(a) Has been authorized by one or more certified sponsors, endorsing municipalities, or endorsing counties, acting individually or collectively, to pursue an application and bid on its or the applicant's behalf to a site selection organization for selection as the host of one or more sporting events; or

(b) With the authorization of one or more certified sponsors, endorsing municipalities, or endorsing counties, acting individually or collectively, executes an agreement with a site selection organization regarding a bid to host one or more sporting events;

(11) **"Registered participant", an individual who is registered to compete in a sporting event, or an athlete, coach, or other individual who is part of a team's official contingent with an official capacity for such sporting event;**

(12) "Site selection organization", the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA); an NCAA member conference, university, or institution; the National Association of Intercollegiate Athletics (NAIA); the United States Olympic & Paralympic Committee [~~USOC~~] (USOPC); a national governing body (NGB) or international federation of a sport recognized by the [~~USOC~~] USOPC; the United States Golf Association (USGA); the United States Tennis Association (USTA); the Amateur Athletic Union (AAU); the National Christian College Athletic Association (NCCAA); the National Junior College Athletic Association (NJCAA); the United States Sports Specialty Association (USSSA); any rights holder member of the [~~National Association of Sports Commissions (NASC)~~] **Sports Events and Tourism Association (Sports ETA)**; other major regional, national, and international sports associations, and amateur organizations that promote, organize, or administer sporting games or competitions; or other major regional, national, and international organizations that promote or organize sporting events;

(13) "Sporting event" or "sporting events", an amateur, collegiate, or Olympic sporting event that is competitively bid or is awarded by a site selection organization;

(14) "Support contract" or "support contracts", an event award notification, joinder undertaking, joinder agreement, or contract executed by an applicant and a site selection organization;

(15) "Tax credit" or "tax credits", a credit or credits issued by the department against the tax otherwise due under chapter 143 or 148, excluding withholding tax imposed under sections 143.191 to 143.265;

(16) "Taxpayer", any of the following individuals or entities who make an eligible donation:

(a) A person, firm, partner in a firm, corporation, or a shareholder in an S corporation doing business in the state of Missouri and subject to the state income tax imposed under chapter 143;

(b) A corporation subject to the annual corporation franchise tax imposed under chapter 147;

(c) An insurance company paying an annual tax on its gross premium receipts in this state;

(d) Any other financial institution paying taxes to the state of Missouri or any political subdivision of this state under chapter 148;

(e) An individual subject to the state income tax imposed under chapter 143;

(f) Any charitable organization which is exempt from federal income tax and whose Missouri unrelated business taxable income, if any, would be subject to the state income tax imposed under chapter 143.

2. An applicant may submit a copy of a support contract for a sporting event to the department. Within sixty days of receipt of the sporting event support contract, the department may review the applicant's support contract and certify such support contract if it complies with the requirements of this section. Upon certification of the support contract by the department, the applicant may be authorized to receive the tax credit under subsection 4 of this section.

3. No more than ninety days following the conclusion of the sporting event, the applicant shall submit ~~[eligible costs and documentation of the costs evidenced by receipts, paid invoices, event settlements, or other documentation in a manner prescribed by the department. Eligible costs may be paid by the applicant or an entity cohosting the event with the applicant]~~ **a ticket sales or box office statement verifying the total number of tickets sold for such event, or, if such event was participant-based, a list of all registered participants.**

4. (1) ~~[No later than seven days following the conclusion of the sporting event, the department, in consultation with the director, shall determine the total number of tickets sold at face value for such event or, if such event was participant-based and did not sell admission tickets, the total number of paid participant registrations.]~~

~~(2) [Eligible costs and]~~ **(2) No later than sixty days following the receipt of [eligible costs and] documentation of [such costs] ticket sales or registered participants** from the applicant as required in subsection 3 of this section, the department shall, except for the limitations under subsection 5 of this section, issue **a certificate for** a refundable tax credit to the applicant for ~~[the least of]:~~

~~(a) [One hundred percent of eligible costs incurred by the applicant;~~

~~(b)] An amount equal to [five] six dollars for every admission ticket sold to such event; or~~

~~(c)] (b) An amount equal to [ten] twelve dollars for every [paid] registered participant [registration] if such event was participant-based [and did not sell admission tickets].~~

The calculations under paragraphs ~~[(b)]~~ (a) and ~~[(c)]~~ (b) of this subdivision shall use the actual number of tickets sold or ~~[registrations paid]~~ registered participants, not an estimated amount.

(2) The department of revenue shall issue a refund of the refundable tax credit to the applicant within ninety days of the applicant's submission of a valid tax credit certificate issued in accordance with subdivision (1) of this subsection. Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, this may include a refund issued in advance of the close of the tax period to which the tax credit applies.

(3) Tax credits authorized by this section may be claimed against taxes imposed by chapters 143 and 148 ~~[and shall be claimed within one year of the close of the tax year for which the credits were issued]~~. Tax credits authorized by this section ~~[may]~~ **shall not** be transferred, sold, or assigned ~~[by filing a notarized endorsement thereof with the department that names the transferee, the amount of tax credit transferred, and the value received for the credit, as well as any other information reasonably requested by the department]~~. **Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, tax credits authorized by this section may be refunded at any time following issuance, even prior to the close of the tax period for which the credits were issued. An erroneous, excessive, or improper refund of these tax credits shall be considered an underpayment of tax on the date made. If any applicant is issued tax credits pursuant to this section that are refunded to such applicant, but the department of revenue later determines that the applicant receiving the credits owes or owed taxes that were not paid for the tax year for which the tax credit was issued, such applicant shall pay to the department of revenue the applicant's tax liability still due, including any underpayment caused by the erroneous, excessive, or improper refund of these tax credits. The department of revenue may promulgate such rules as are necessary to administer such clawback provisions under this subdivision.**

5. In no event shall the amount of tax credits issued by the department under subsection 4 of this section exceed ~~[three]~~ **six** million dollars in any fiscal year. For all events located within the following counties, the total amount of tax credits issued shall not exceed ~~[two]~~ **five** million ~~[seven]~~ **five** hundred thousand dollars in any fiscal year:

- (1) A county with a charter form of government and with more than six hundred thousand inhabitants; or
- (2) A city not within a county.

6. An applicant shall provide any information necessary as determined by the department for the department and the director to fulfill the duties required by this section. At any time upon the request of the state of Missouri, a certified sponsor shall subject itself to an audit conducted by the state.

7. This section shall not be construed as creating or requiring a state guarantee of obligations imposed on an endorsing municipality under a support contract or any other agreement relating to hosting one or more sporting events in this state.

8. The department shall only certify an applicant's support contract for a sporting event in which the site selection organization has yet to select a location for the sporting event as of December 1, 2012. No support contract shall be certified unless the site selection organization has chosen to use a location in this state from competitive bids, at least one of which was a bid for a location outside of this state, except that competitive bids shall not be required for any previously-awarded event whose site selection organization extends its contractual agreement with the event's certified sponsor or for any ~~[post-season]~~ **neutral-site** collegiate ~~[football game or other neutral-site]~~ game with at least one out-of-state team. Support contracts shall not be certified by the department after August 28, ~~[2025]~~ **2032**, provided that the support contracts may be certified on or prior to August 28, ~~[2025]~~ **2032**, for sporting events that will be held after such date.

9. The department may promulgate rules as necessary to implement the provisions of this section. Any rule or portion of a rule, as that term is defined in section 536.010, that is created under the authority delegated in this section shall become effective only if it complies with and is subject to all of the provisions of chapter 536 and, if applicable, section 536.028. This section and chapter 536 are nonseverable and if any of the powers vested with the general assembly pursuant to chapter 536 to review, to delay the effective date, or to disapprove and annul a rule are subsequently held unconstitutional, then the grant of rulemaking authority and any rule proposed or adopted after August 28, 2013, shall be invalid and void.

10. The repeal and reenactment of subsection 8 of this section shall become effective August 28, 2025, and the repeal and reenactment of the remainder of the provisions of this section shall become effective July 1, 2026, and shall apply only to tax credits issued on or after July 1, 2026.

67.3005. 1. For all tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, any taxpayer shall be allowed a credit against the taxes otherwise due under chapter 143, 147, or 148, excluding withholding tax imposed by sections 143.191 to 143.265, in an amount equal to fifty percent of the amount of an eligible donation, subject to the restrictions in this section. The amount of the tax credit claimed shall not exceed the amount of the taxpayer's state

income tax liability in the tax year for which the credit is claimed. Any amount of credit that the taxpayer is prohibited by this section from claiming in a tax year shall not be refundable, but may be carried forward to any of the taxpayer's two subsequent tax years.

2. To claim the credit authorized in this section, a certified sponsor or local organizing committee shall submit to the department an application for the tax credit authorized by this section on behalf of taxpayers. The department shall verify that the applicant has submitted the following items accurately and completely:

- (1) A valid application in the form and format required by the department;
- (2) A statement attesting to the eligible donation received, which shall include the name and taxpayer identification number of the individual making the eligible donation, the amount of the eligible donation, and the date the eligible donation was received; and
- (3) Payment from the certified sponsor or local organizing committee equal to the value of the tax credit for which application is made.

If the certified sponsor or local organizing committee applying for the tax credit meets all criteria required by this subsection, the department shall issue a certificate in the appropriate amount.

3. Tax credits issued under this section may be assigned, transferred, sold, or otherwise conveyed, and the new owner of the tax credit shall have the same rights in the credit as the taxpayer. Whenever a certificate is assigned, transferred, sold, or otherwise conveyed, a notarized endorsement shall be filed with the department specifying the name and address of the new owner of the tax credit or the value of the credit. In no event shall the amount of tax credits issued by the department under this section exceed ~~ten million~~ **five hundred thousand** dollars in any fiscal year.

4. The department shall promulgate rules to implement the provisions of this section. Any rule or portion of a rule, as that term is defined in section 536.010, that is created under the authority delegated in this section shall become effective only if it complies with and is subject to all of the provisions of chapter 536 and, if applicable, section 536.028. This section and chapter 536 are nonseverable and if any of the powers vested with the general assembly pursuant to chapter 536 to review, to delay the effective date, or to disapprove and annul a rule are subsequently held unconstitutional, then the grant of rulemaking authority and any rule proposed or adopted after August 28, 2013, shall be invalid and void.

5. Under section 23.253 of the Missouri sunset act:

(1) The provisions of the new program authorized under **this section and section 67.3000** ~~and under this section~~ shall automatically sunset six years after August 28, ~~2019~~ **2026**, unless reauthorized by an act of the general assembly; and

(2) If such program is reauthorized, the program authorized under **this section and section 67.3000** ~~and under this section~~ shall automatically sunset twelve years after the effective date of the reauthorization of these sections; and

(3) Section 67.3000 and this section shall terminate on September first of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the program authorized under these sections is sunset.

6. The repeal and reenactment of subsection 5 of this section shall become effective August 28, 2025, and the repeal and reenactment of the remainder of the provisions of this section shall become effective July 1, 2026, and shall apply only to tax credits issued on or after July 1, 2026."; and

Further amend said bill by amending the title, enacting clause, and intersectional references accordingly.

On motion of Representative Christ, **House Amendment No. 2** was adopted.

Representative Roberts moved the previous question.

Which motion was adopted by the following vote:

AYES: 086

Allen	Amato	Banderman	Billington	Black
Boggs	Bromley	Brown 149	Brown 16	Busick
Byrnes	Casteel	Caton	Chappell	Christ
Christensen	Coleman	Costlow	Davidson	Davis

Diehl	Dolan	Durnell	Elliott	Falkner
Farnan	Fowler	Gragg	Griffith	Haden
Haley	Harbison	Hardwick	Hewkin	Hinman
Hovis	Hurlbert	Irwin	Jones 12	Jordan
Justus	Kalberloh	Keathley	Kelley	Laubinger
Loy	Lucas	Martin	Mayhew	McGill
Meirath	Miller	Myers	Nolte	Overcast
Owen	Parker	Perkins	Phelps	Pollitt
Reedy	Reuter	Riley	Roberts	Sassmann
Schmidt	Schulte	Seitz	Self	Sharpe 4
Shields	Steinmeyer	Taylor 48	Thompson	Titus
Van Schoiack	Veit	Verneti	Violet	Voss
Waller	Warwick	Wellenkamp	Whaley	Wilson
Wolfin				

NOES: 048

Anderson	Appelbaum	Aune	Barnes	Bosley
Boykin	Boyko	Burton	Bush	Butz
Clemens	Collins	Crossley	Dean	Doll
Douglas	Fogle	Fountain Henderson	Fuchs	Hales
Hein	Ingle	Jacobs	Jamison	Jobe
Johnson	Kimble	Mackey	Mansur	Mosley
Price	Proudie	Reed	Rush	Sharp 37
Smith 46	Smith 68	Smith 74	Steinhoff	Strickler
Taylor 84	Terry	Thomas	Walsh Moore	Weber
Woods	Young	Zimmermann		

PRESENT: 000

ABSENT WITH LEAVE: 028

Baker	Cook	Cupps	Deaton	Ealy
Gallick	Hausman	Hruza	Jones 88	Knight
Lewis	Matthiesen	McGaugh	Murphy	Murray
Oehlerking	Peters	Plank	Pouche	Riggs
Simmons	Sparks	Steinmetz	Stinnett	West
Williams	Wright	Mr. Speaker		

VACANCIES: 001

On motion of Representative Shields, **HCS HB 326, as amended**, was adopted.

On motion of Representative Shields, **HCS HB 326, as amended**, was ordered perfected and printed.

REFERRAL OF HOUSE JOINT RESOLUTIONS

The following House Joint Resolution was referred to the Committee indicated:

HCS HJR 73 - Fiscal Review

COMMITTEE REPORTS

Committee on Children and Families, Chairman Jones (88) reporting:

Mr. Speaker: Your Committee on Children and Families, to which was referred **SS SB 66**, begs leave to report it has examined the same and recommends that it **Do Pass with House Committee Substitute** by the following vote:

Ayes (14): Dolan, Gragg, Hausman, Jamison, Jones (88), Kelley, Laubinger, Loy, Mansur, Peters, Proudie, Schmidt, Terry and Violet

Noes (0)

Absent (2): Costlow and Steinmetz

*The following ex officio member was present: Aune

Committee on Elementary and Secondary Education, Chairman Lewis reporting:

Mr. Speaker: Your Committee on Elementary and Secondary Education, to which was referred **HB 1365**, begs leave to report it has examined the same and recommends that it **Do Pass with House Committee Substitute** by the following vote:

Ayes (19): Banderman, Boykin, Boyko, Byrnes, Gragg, Hewkin, Hurlbert, Jacobs, Kelley, Laubinger, Lewis, Mackey, Martin, Meirath, Pollitt, Schmidt, Smith (68), Steinhoff and Williams

Noes (1): Loy

Absent (3): Baker, Overcast and Steinmetz

Mr. Speaker: Your Committee on Elementary and Secondary Education, to which was referred **SS SCS SBs 49 & 118**, begs leave to report it has examined the same and recommends that it **Do Pass** by the following vote:

Ayes (12): Banderman, Byrnes, Gragg, Hewkin, Hurlbert, Kelley, Lewis, Martin, Meirath, Pollitt, Smith (68) and Williams

Noes (6): Boyko, Laubinger, Loy, Mackey, Schmidt and Steinhoff

Present (2): Boykin and Jacobs

Absent (3): Baker, Overcast and Steinmetz

Committee on Fiscal Review, Chairman Murphy reporting:

Mr. Speaker: Your Committee on Fiscal Review, to which was referred **HCS HJR 73**, begs leave to report it has examined the same and recommends that it **Do Pass** by the following vote:

Ayes (5): Casteel, Gragg, Mayhew, Murphy and Pouche

Noes (2): Fogle and Hein

Absent (1): Cupps

Committee on Rules - Administrative, Chairman Shields reporting:

Mr. Speaker: Your Committee on Rules - Administrative, to which was referred **HCS SS SB 7**, begs leave to report it has examined the same and recommends that it **Do Pass** by the following vote:

Ayes (8): Christ, Griffith, Mackey, Oehlerking, Proudie, Shields, Smith (46) and Taylor (48)

Noes (0)

Absent (2): Perkins and Stinnett

Mr. Speaker: Your Committee on Rules - Administrative, to which was referred **HCS SS SB 150**, begs leave to report it has examined the same and recommends that it **Do Pass** by the following vote:

Ayes (7): Christ, Griffith, Mackey, Oehlerking, Proudie, Shields and Taylor (48)

Noes (1): Smith (46)

Absent (2): Perkins and Stinnett

Mr. Speaker: Your Committee on Rules - Administrative, to which was referred **SCS SB 163**, begs leave to report it has examined the same and recommends that it **be returned to committee of origin** as **SCS SB 163** by the following vote:

Ayes (8): Christ, Griffith, Mackey, Oehlerking, Proudie, Shields, Smith (46) and Taylor (48)

Noes (0)

Absent (2): Perkins and Stinnett

REFERRAL OF HOUSE BILLS - RULES

The following House Bills were referred to the Committee indicated:

HB 136 - Rules - Legislative
HCS HB 149 - Rules - Legislative
HCS HB 532 - Rules - Administrative
HCS HB 662 - Rules - Legislative
HCS HB 1190 - Rules - Administrative
HB 1229 - Rules - Administrative
HCS HB 1461 - Rules - Administrative

MESSAGES FROM THE SENATE

Mr. Speaker: I am instructed by the Senate to inform the House of Representatives that the Senate refuses to recede from its position on **SS HCS HBs 737 & 486, as amended**, and grants the House a conference thereon.

The following members' presence was noted: Deaton, Sparks, and Williams.

ADJOURNMENT

On motion of Representative Riley, the House adjourned until 10:00 a.m, Thursday, April 17, 2025.

COMMITTEE HEARINGS

CONSENT AND PROCEDURE

Tuesday, April 22, 2025, 4:00 PM or upon adjournment (whichever is later),
House Hearing Room 5.

Public hearing will be held: HR 1968, HR 1970

Executive session will be held: HR 1968, HR 1970

FISCAL REVIEW

Thursday, April 17, 2025, 8:45 AM, House Hearing Room 4.

Executive session may be held on any matter referred to the committee.

Pending referrals.

JOINT COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION OVERSIGHT

Thursday, April 24, 2025, 9:30 AM, Joint Hearing Room (117).

Pending applications for memorial highway and bridge designations.

Pending applications for specialty license plates.

RULES - LEGISLATIVE

Thursday, April 17, 2025, 9:15 AM, House Hearing Room 4.

Executive session will be held: HCS HB 40, HB 47, HCS HB 81, HCS#2 HBs 440 & 1160, HCS HB 530, HCS HB 745, HB 749, HCS HB 777, HB 802, HCS HB 859, HB 945, HCS HBs 984, 1023 & 1561, HB 988, HB 1065, HB 1100, HCS HB 1165, HCS HBs 1263 & 1124, HB 1309, HCS HBs 1514, 1525 & 1527, HCR 6, HCS HCRs 15 & 9, HCS SS SCS SB 68
Executive session may be held on any matter referred to the committee.

Removed HB 1049.

AMENDED

VETERANS AND ARMED FORCES

Thursday, April 17, 2025, 8:00 AM, House Hearing Room 7.

Executive session will be held: HB 948, HB 1482

Presentation by Independent Living Resource Center by Susan E. Roemer, Executive Director with Independent Living Resource Center, and Jim Ruedin, Executive Director with Delta Center.

HOUSE CALENDAR

FIFTY-SIXTH DAY, THURSDAY, APRIL 17, 2025

HOUSE JOINT RESOLUTIONS FOR PERFECTION - INFORMAL

HCS HJR 67, as amended, with HA 2, pending - McGaugh

HCS#2 HJR 54 - Stinnett

HOUSE BILLS FOR PERFECTION

HCS HBs 862, 314 & 389 - Hovis
HB 107 - Verneti
HCS HB 941 - Lewis
HCS HB 83 - Veit
HCS HB 368 - Banderman
HCS HB 50 - Haley
HB 858 - Pouche

HOUSE BILLS FOR PERFECTION - INFORMAL

HB 714 - Griffith
HB 501 - Christ
HB 743 - Baker
HB 1200 - Reuter
HB 1193 - West
HB 74 - Taylor (48)
HCS HB 716 - Falkner
HB 366 - Pollitt
HCS HB 839 - Schulte
HCS HB 315 - Cook
HB 837 - Farnan
HB 205 - Hinman
HCS HBs 610 & 900 - Wilson
HB 766 - Stinnett
HB 830 - Cook
HCS HB 534 - Diehl
HCS HB 31 - Davidson
HB 182 - Parker
HB 168 - Brown (149)
HB 957 - Anderson
HCS HB 411 - Williams
HB 284 - Proudie
HCS HB 531 - Hausman
HB 116 - Murphy
HCS HBs 222 & 580 - Schulte
HB 457 - Taylor (48)
HCS HB 593 - Perkins
HB 431 - Caton
HCS HB 806 - Taylor (48)
HB 783 - Keathley
HB 671 - Harbison
HB 398 - Peters
HB 833 - Farnan
HCS HB 712 - Pollitt

1914 *Journal of the House*

HCS HB 708 - Oehlerking
HCS HB 436 - Hardwick
HB 475 - Pollitt
HCS HB 477 - Oehlerking
HCS HB 606 - Haley
HB 657 - Owen
HB 723 - Peters
HB 784 - Peters
HCS HB 1063 - Sassmann
HCS HBs 433 & 630 - Hardwick
HB 271 - Kalberloh
HB 362 - Williams
HB 627 - Mayhew
HCS HB 829 - West
HCS HB 976 - Hovis
HCS HB 1216 - Dolan
HB 845 - Stinnett
HCS HB 1316 - Billington
HB 245 - Sharpe (4)
HCS HB 916 - Perkins

HOUSE JOINT RESOLUTIONS FOR THIRD READING

HCS HJR 73 - Seitz

HOUSE BILLS FOR THIRD READING - APPROPRIATIONS

HCS HB 18 - Deaton
HCS HB 19 - Deaton
HCS HB 20 - Deaton

HOUSE BILLS FOR THIRD READING - INFORMAL

HCS HB 236, E.C. - Gallick
HCS HB 119, (Fiscal Review 4/10/25) - Murphy
HB 349 - Reuter

HOUSE BILLS FOR THIRD READING - CONSENT

HCS HBs 1017 & 291 - Brown (16)
HB 241 - Sharpe (4)
HB 928 - Taylor (48)

SENATE BILLS FOR THIRD READING - CONSENT

(04/16/2025)

SB 396 - Banderaman

HOUSE BILLS WITH SENATE AMENDMENTS

SS#2 HCS HBs 594 & 508, (Fiscal Review 4/7/25) - Perkins

BILLS IN CONFERENCE

SS HCS HBs 737 & 486, as amended - Schmidt

ACTIONS PURSUANT TO ARTICLE IV, SECTION 27

SS SCS HCS HB 2002 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2003 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2004 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2005 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2006 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2007 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2008 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2009 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2010 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2011 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2012 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2013 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2017 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2018 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2019 - Deaton
SS SCS HCS HB 2020 - Deaton

1916 *Journal of the House*

(This page intentionally left blank)